# **APPENDIX 1**

# STATEMENT OF PURPOSE

# Southwark Adoption Service

2011/12

Southwark NHS Primary Care Trust



# CONTENTS

1.	INTRODUCTION2
2.	AIMS & OBJECTIVES2
3.	PRINCIPLES & VALUES
3.1	Children
3.2	Birth families 4
3.3	Adopters5
3.4	Corporate parents5
4.	MANAGEMENT, STRUCTURE & STAFFING6
4.1	Names and contact details of key adoption roles7
5.	SERVICES PROVIDED
5.1	Recruitment
5.2	Preparation and training9
5.3	Assessments10
5.4	Adoption Panel10
5.5	Post-approval and adoption support11
5.6	Matching children with families 11
5.7	Overseas adoption 12
6.	MONITORING & EVALUATING THE SERVICE
7.	COMPLAINTS
8.	REGISTRATION14
9.	APPROVAL

# 1. INTRODUCTION

This Statement of Purpose explains the vision, objectives and services provided by Southwark's Adoption Service. In doing so it sets out how Southwark as an Adoption Agency meets the requirement of the Adoption and Children Act 2002, the Children Act 1989, Adoption Agencies Regulations 2005 (amended 2011), the Adoption National Minimum Standards 2011 and other relevant legislation, regulations and guidance.

Southwark's Adoption Service is delivered primarily through its Adoption and Permanence Team. This is part of the Children's Specialist Services and its primary role is to find permanent homes for our looked after children through adoptive placements.

The Statement of Purpose is provided to staff, adopters, other professionals, Speakerbox (Southwark's Children in Care Council) and the public upon request. In addition the document will be posted on Southwark's web site and its understanding actively promoted.

The Adoption Agency's policies, procedures and written guidelines accurately reflect the Statement of Purpose.

# 2. AIMS & OBJECTIVES

The aim of Southwark's Service is to provide a comprehensive, high quality service to give children the very best chance of being happy and successful in their lives through adoption.

The specific objectives of the Adoption Service are set to be within the legislation, regulations, guidance and standards and as follows.

- To put the needs, wishes, feelings, welfare and safety of the child at the centre of the adoption process.
- To consider adoption as an option for all children requiring permanent alternative care away from their own birth family.
- To make timely decisions and actively deliver plans in respect of permanence for children within prescribed timescales, minimising delay.
- To deliver a sensitive and responsive service to families who wish to relinquish children for adoption.

- To recruit, prepare, approve and prepare adopters able to meet the needs and maximise the life chances of Southwark's children, including such factors as ethnicity, culture, religion and language.
- To prepare children practically and emotionally for a move to a new permanent family
- To provide suitably experienced and qualified social workers in the Adoption Service to assist and advise in the planning of each adoptive placement and promotion of permanence planning and delivery.
- To deliver a wide range of adoption support services to adopters, adopted children and their birth families to achieve stable and successful placements.
- To undertake non-agency (step parent/partner) adoption assessments.
- To provide a sensitive and personal response to adults seeking information about their adoption, and birth families wishing to contact adult adopted children, by steering them towards an 'an intermediary service'.
- To provide advice and information to those seeking to adopt from overseas by steering them towards a specialist assessment agency.

# 3. PRINCIPLES & VALUES

#### 3.1 Children

- Every child has the right to have a family throughout their childhood that will: meet all their needs in terms of stability and security; promote their physical, social and emotional development; and provide them with a supportive lifelong relationship.
- Where children's needs cannot be met within their birth family, adoption will be considered as possibly the best alternative for meeting those needs.
- The child's welfare is the paramount consideration in all planning and action.
- Children's wishes and feelings are always taken into account in decisionmaking, according to the child's age and understanding.
- Children are treated with respect. Their diversity and difference is valued and enjoyed.
- Children's sense of identity and self-respect is actively promoted throughout their childhood with particular awareness to issues of ethnicity, culture, religion, gender, ability and sexual orientation.

- Children are placed within their own cultural, racial, linguistic and religious communities, wherever that is possible. Where this is not possible, plans are put in place to keep the child's culture alive for them within families who can meet their other needs.
- Children are only be separated from their siblings where clear evidence supports doing so on the basis of the children's individual assessed needs.
- Children are entitled to information about their birth family in order to promote their sense of identity.
- Children's contact with their birth relatives is encouraged if compatible with the their need for physical safety and emotional security.
- Children are made aware of their rights as Looked After Children and have information that allows them to make representations and complaints where necessary.
- Children with disabilities are placed in an environment which recognises and caters for their disability and, at the same time, promotes their social inclusion.
- The disadvantages experienced by Looked After Children are recognised and appropriate care and adoption support plans made.

#### 3.2 Birth Families

- Birth families are assisted to properly participate in the planning and decisionmaking processes concerned with their child's future.
- Birth families are properly informed and consulted and their wishes ascertained and respected.
- Birth parents parental responsibility are limited as a result of court directions and decisions taken by the local authority in the exercise of its duties considering the child's needs as paramount.
- Birth parents are supported to maintain an appropriate level and type of contact with their children.

#### 3.3 Adopters

- Adoptive parents are valued and respected.
- Prospective adopters are treated fairly, openly and with respect throughout the adoption process.
- Prospective adopters are discriminated against on the grounds of ethnicity, culture, language, sexuality, gender, financial status or marital status.
- Prospective adopters needs do not take precedence over the need to find suitable families for children.
- Applicants to adopt will know what issues are taken into account in their assessment, including age, health, relationships and family history.
- Applicants to adopt are regarded as partners in the assessment process and are kept fully informed of their progress, and of any concerns identified during their assessment.
- Enquirers about adoption and applications to adopt are considered positively against the current needs of children waiting for adoptive families.
- Different child rearing practices, family values and attitudes, across differing racial, cultural, religious and social groups are respected and understood.

#### 3.4 Corporate parents

All areas of the council, statutory agencies including health, education and Child and Adolescent Mental Health, and voluntary agencies where involved actively work in partnership to support the adoption of children to achieve positive outcomes for children in public care.

# 4. MANAGEMENT, STRUCTURE & STAFFING

Southwark's Adoption Service is delivered primarily through its Adoption and Permanence Team. This is part of the Children's Specialist Services which under the overall direction and management of the Director of Children's Service. The Director of Children's Services reports to the Chief Executive (the most senior officer of the Council) and also to the Corporate Parenting Committee (a committee of councillors).

Children's Specialist Services is a large and complex range of services. All those services that are particularly concerned with meeting the needs of looked after children and children with disabilities are organised as a Business Unit under the direction of the Head of Service (Children in Care and Disabled Children).

Every Looked After Child in Southwark has an allocated social worker who is responsible through their management for case planning and implementation, including permanence planning for those children who have been assessed as unable to return to the care of their own birth families. These social workers are based in five Children Looked After 0-12 Teams and a Children with Disability Team. These teams are also responsible for supporting birth relatives in accessing the independent support services that have been commissioned in accordance with regulations.

All social workers involved in adoption work are professionally qualified, and all have access to regular supervision from qualified and experienced managers.

The Adoption and Permanence Team is part of the CLA 0-12 and Adoption Service. The service manager is a qualified social worker with a Diploma in Health and Social Care Studies.

The Adoption and Permanence Team takes primary responsibility within Southwark Council for Adoption Services including the case management of children with an adoption plan, relinquished babies and post-adoption support.

The Adoption & Permanence Team consists of

- 1 Team Manager
- 1 Practice Manager
- 1 Adoption Support Services Advisor
- 2.5 Senior Practitioners
- 7 Social Workers

The Team Manager, Practice Manager, Adoption Support Services Advisor and all social work staff have first qualifications in social work and are registered with the General Social Care Council. All meet the requirements of the Adoption Agencies Regulations 2005 (amended 2011) with regard to the preparation of adoption reports. The Team Manager and Adoption Support Services Advisor have Certificates in Health and Social Care Studies.

An administrative team of one senior and two executive officers supports the Adoption and Permanence Team and Adoption Panel. The administrative team is supervised by the Children Looked After Support Services Manager.

All staff, including sessional and temporary staff have enhanced CRB checks.

#### 4.1 Names and contact details of key adoption roles

The responsible manager for Adoption Services is Alasdair Smith, CLA 0-12 Service and Adoption Service Manager

alasdair.smith@southwark.gov.uk 0207 525 0654

The Agency Adoption Advisor and Adoption & Permanence Team Manager is Sue White

sue.white@southwark.gov.uk

0207 525 4448

0207 525 4460

The Adoption Support Services Advisor is Pauline Wedderburn

pauline.wedderburn@southwark.gov.uk

The Adoption Agency Decision Maker is Chris Saunders, Head of Services for Children in Care and Disabilities.

The Independent Chair of Southwark's Adoption Panel is Bernard Monaghan

The Adoption Service is based, and can be contacted at:

The Learning and Business Centre, Cator Street, London SE15 6AA

Reception Tel. No. 020 7525 4453

#### 5. SERVICES PROVIDED

#### 5.1 Recruitment

A recruitment strategy is agreed each year based on the needs of the children to be adopted and lessons learnt from the past. Criteria for recruitment are kept under review depending on the needs of children on referral. Advertising campaigns are conducted for general recruitment to a pool and for specific children needing families.

The key messages of the recruitment strategy are:

We are knowledgeable and experienced, make Southwark Council your first point of call for adoption

Everyone has the right to complete their family. Come and talk to us if you're considering adopting a child.

The Adoption Service the Southwark Council's Communications Team aims to broadcast the message that we seek individuals and couples, from whatever background, who wish to make a permanent commitment to a child or sibling group through adoption. There is particular focus on seeking adopters for black and mixed race children and for adopters.

There is an emphasis on recruiting adopters who can meet children's health, educational, racial, cultural and religious needs, as well as meeting the needs of disabled children. Applicants can be married, in civil partnerships, single or unmarried couples.

Adopters for specific children looked after by Southwark are routinely sought by both advertising in the specialist Adoption journals 'Be My Parent' and Adoption Today as well as putting information on their website.

Southwark subscribes to the LondonKids website, which links to the UKkids and Adoption and Fostering Information Line (AFIL) websites. Recruitment advertising is placed in a range of different publications, including local newspapers and South London Press in order to make sure we reach all sections of the community.

Southwark is part of the South London Adoption Consortium, where members share information on approved families and children on a monthly basis.

Enquiry systems are in place to respond promptly to enquiries. Enquiries can be made by phone, letter, fax, email, or in person. Enquirers are given appropriate advice if they are not considered to be suitable to adopt and the reasons given (for example if the enquirer is living in obviously unsuitable accommodation). Enquirers are normally invited to an Information evening where they are able to obtain information from specialist adoption social workers and from experienced adopters. Those who have adopted previously or who are foster carers for Southwark children would get a more tailored approach depending on their previous experience while meeting all the relevant statutory and standard requirements. Adoption Information Sessions are held six times per year, providing an overview of the assessment, approval and matching process as well as information about the backgrounds of Looked After Children and the opportunity to meet with an adopter.

The Assessing Social workers discuss what applicants can offer in terms of the known profiles of need for children approved for adoption. If they do not meet Southwark's current need or anticipated need they will be advised of other Adoption Agencies who may be able to accept their application. If the application meets the profile of need, the family will be contacted and arrangements made for an initial visit at home by a family placement social worker to make a preliminary assessment.

Initial appointments (usually home visits) are offered to all who attend Information Events and it is agreed will proceed. Social workers discuss the outcome of these appointments with their manager and a decision is made about whether to proceed with the application.

Applicants are given the opportunity to meet with an experienced adoptive parent within two months of their enquiry if they have not already done so at an Information meeting.

# 5.2 Preparation and Training

The formal application to adopt must be completed on a written Application Form prior to any preparation course. All applicants are invited to a preparation course. The course uses the British Association of Adoption and Fostering (BAAF) preparation model, materials and workbooks.

At the end of the preparation course applicants are invited to confirm in writing that they want to proceed. Those who do not feel ready to proceed have detailed information about what it takes to be an adopter and are encouraged to return if and when they feel ready. Those who are not ready to proceed in the view of the course facilitators will be advised about actions they can take to assist them in preparation for an adoptive assessment at some time in the future.

Preparation courses are run courses at least twice a year. Prospective adopters are supported to attend courses run by other agencies within the South London Adoption Consortium if unable to attend Southwark groups and also to prevent delay.

It is a requirement of our Adoption Panels that all first time adopters have completed a preparation course before they recommend their suitability as adopters.

If it is not possible to provide a place on a course in a reasonable time proper consideration will be given to beginning the assessment and the applicants undertaking the course during the assessment. This is usually to meet the needs of foster carers applying to adopt their foster child or applicants who appear to be a match for a Southwark child who is waiting.

# 5.3 Assessments

Adopters' assessments are completed using the Prospective Adopters Report format developed in Southwark. Assessments are completed within eight months from initial application to approval unless the prospective adopter requests the assessment and approval is delayed for a clear reason (e.g. significant life event). Applicants are encouraged to think about what they have to offer in terms of their personal experience, faith, culture, ethnic origin, knowledge and skills gained through their lives. If there are areas which need development, we work with them to explore ways of adding to their competencies and building their capacity. We have an open inclusive approach, evaluating applicants for what they have to offer.

Applicants are required to have sufficient time and space to meet the demands of adoption. All applicants are encouraged to think carefully about their support networks, including family, and single-sex households are asked to consider who will provide role models for a different gender to them.

For safeguarding and verification purposes a number of checks are undertaken including for example CRB, Social Services, NSPCC, and the local education authority. Two personal references are requested and these referees visited. A family member will also be asked to act as a referee, and will usually be visited. The current employer will be contacted to verify the national insurance number and asked if they wish to comment on the application. All employers will be contacted if the applicant has worked with children or vulnerable adults and asked if they have comments to make; the applicant's GP will undertake an adoption medical. Previous partners will be contacted a child with the applicant.

Applicants are given a copy of their assessment report with two weeks to add their comments. Applicants are invited and encouraged to attend the Adoption Panel when their approval as adopters is being considered.

# 5.4 Adoption Panel

Southwark's Adoption Panel meets on the third Thursday of each month and at other times if necessary to prevent delay for children. Southwark's Panels are properly constituted under the Adoption Agency Regulations 2005 (amended 2011). There is an independent chair for the panel (not employed by the authority) who has substantial specialist knowledge and experience of adoption. There is a Consultant Paediatrician medical advisor, the Adoption Team Manager is the Adoption Advisor and there are specialists in education, social work and the law as well as an experienced adopter and at least one adult who experienced adoption as a child.

At this panel, the recommendation will be made as to whether the applicants should be approved as adopters. Recommendations are made solely on the basis of parenting capacity. All Adoption Panel papers and the final minutes will then be passed to the Agency Decision Maker who makes the final decision. Applicants will be informed of this decision in writing within five working days. Where the decision is made that the applicants should not be approved as adopters, the applicants have 40 days to make further representations to the agency or apply to the Independent Review Mechanism (IRM). All applicants are given information about the IRM and the Southwark Complaints Procedure.

#### 5.5 **Post-approval and adoption support**

Identifying support needs to sustain lifelong placements is an integral part of the adoption service and assessment process.

All approved adopters have an allocated social worker in the Adoption & Permanence Team. Once approved, this worker helps them consider children and works jointly with the child's social worker where a child is identified as a possible placement.

The Adoption social worker and the child's social worker carry out a needs assessment to consider support to the placement immediately and in the future. A variety of issues must be considered including financial support (one-off payments and on-going); health, therapeutic and educational needs, identity issues and life story work and contact; counselling; advice and general information. These are all outlined in the Southwark Adoption Placement Report for each child placed for adoption.

Various resources are available to Children Looked After by Southwark including the Agency Medical Adviser, Carelink Therapeutic Services and the Children Looked After Educational Advisors. Any or all of these can provide appropriate support to the adoptive child, including after adoption.

Adopters who live in Southwark are provided with a service until a child is 18 years of age. Where a child is placed with adopters who live outside the borough, support by the Southwark adoption social worker may continue for a period of three years from the date of the Adoption Order, if the adopters request it. After that time any further support is provided by the local authority in which they reside.

#### 5.6 Matching children with families

At the point of considering the linking of a child, prospective approved adopters will be given full written information about the child, their background and needs and an opportunity to discuss this privately and with their adoption social worker. There would also be opportunity to meet with the Agency Medical and Education Advisor if requested.

If a decision is made to proceed a matching meeting is held. The proposed match is then considered by the Adoption Panel. Approved prospective adopters will be supported throughout the process including the introductions when both the child is ready for placement and the applicants are happy to proceed, the child is placed. The child will be supported and prepared by their social worker and foster carer. The child's placement will be reviewed in accordance with the requirements of the Looked After Children's Statutory Reviewing Process. The prospective adopter's social worker and the child's social worker will provide on-going support for the placement until Adoption Order. The adoption social worker will continue to provide support as needed.

#### 5.7 Overseas Adoption

Southwark has a service level agreement with the Inter-Country Adoption Centre who offer a comprehensive specialist service and all enquiries about this are given their contact details.

Telephone: 020 8449 2562

info@icacentre.org.uk

# 6. MONITORING & EVALUATING THE SERVICE

The child's care plan sets out roles and responsibilities of the various professionals involved at any point in time. All care plans are reviewed as required by regulation and chaired by Independent Reviewing Officers.

Family-finding plans for children are monitored through regular progress meetings following the referral meeting and at child in care reviews. The Permanence Tracking Panel monitors and catalyses the implementation of permanence plans reducing delay and overseeing coordination of the care planning system from point of first contact. The Adoption Team Manager attends the legal planning panel to anticipate early planning for adoptive placements.

Children and carers are provided with information as to how to make a complaint and this is clarified and reinforced at each review.

Management information on the performance of the Adoption Service is reported regularly to the Management Team and to the Deputy Director (Children's Specialist Services). The Deputy Director keeps the Cabinet Member for Children's Services appraised of Adoption Service performance through their regular performance monitoring meetings. Reports dealing with the performance of the Adoption Service, any proposed changes and national policy and best practice issues are presented to the Executive side of the Council.

The Adoption Panel chair meets with the Agency Decision Maker and key managers to provide termly feedback on the experience of the panel and the adoption process and standards.

# 7. COMPLAINTS

Southwark's Adoption Service aims to provide the best possible service. If anyone approaching or using the service is unhappy with any aspect of the service or decision made they can make a complaint.

Most people don't like to complain but sometimes things do go wrong or can be done differently. It is the responsibility of the staff and managers in the Adoption Service to try to put right any concerns that people may have at the time they are raised.

All those involved with Southwark Adoption Services are encouraged to raise concerns early directly with those who are delivering the particular service to promote early resolution.

This local resolution is the first stage of the complaints process. If the complaint cannot be resolved at the first stage it may become necessary for the complaint to be formally registered. This formal investigation stage is known as stage two. Those complaining have the right to go straight to this stage of the process if they wish. If the complaint is still unresolved after the formal investigation at stage two, a Review Panel may be requested, which is chaired by an independent person. This is stage three of the process which overall is guided by Southwark's Customer Services Complaints Procedure.

All formal complaints can be sent to:

The Complaints Officer Children Services Complaints Department PO Box 64529 London SE1 5LX

Telephone: 020 7525 0042 e-mail complaints@southwark.gov.uk

Further information about complaints is detailed on the following webpage:

www.southwark.gov.uk/info/200025/comments and complaints

#### 8. **REGISTRATION**

#### Ofsted is the registration authority for Southwark's Adoption Service.

Their address is: National Business Unit, 3rd Floor, Royal Exchange Buildings, St Ann's Square, Manchester, M2 7LA

Telephone 08456 404040 Email: enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk

Website: www.ofsted.gov.uk

# 9. APPROVAL

#### Approval of Adoption Statement of Purpose 2011-12

Signed .....

Romi Bowen

Director of Children's Services

Dated .....

Signed .....

Cllr Catherine McDonald

Cabinet Member (Children and Young People's Services)

Dated .....

# Original signed copy held by Southwark Adoption Service